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Legal prohibitions against insider trading' date back a century. 2

Until fairly recently, however, victims of insider trading relied
almost exclusively on a judicially-created cause of action to obtain
legal redress.3 Federal courts have implied this private right of
action since 1946 from the broad enforcement mechanisms provided
by the securities laws, continually adding substantive legal content
and restrictions.4 Due in part to the haphazard manner in which the
law had developed in this area, 5 and in direct response to the breadth
and scope of insider trading scandals6 in the 1980s, Congress enacted
the Insider Trading and Securities Fraud Enforcement Act of 1988
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1. For the purposes of this Note, "insider trading" is simply the trading in a
security while in possession of material, nonpublic information. See infra notes 62-66
and accompanying text.

2. See Strong v. Repide, 213 U.S. 419, 431 (1909) (holding that director has no
general duty "to disclose to a shareholder the general knowledge which he may possess
regarding the value of the shares" to be transferred, but that "special facts" may
nevertheless create a duty of disclosure).

3. See discussion infra Part I.
4. The original insider trading cause of action has been described as a "judicial

oak which has grown from little more than a legislative acorn," Blue Chip Stamps v.
Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 737 (1975), and as "a genie sired solely by the
judiciary," In re Data Access Sys. Sec. Litig., 843 F.2d 1537, 1547 (3d Cir. 1988).

5. See, e.g., discussion infra Part III.A (recounting the development of statutes of
limitations under the § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 implied right of action).

6. The typical scandal operated as follows:
[T]he CEO of a company learns from his engineers that they have struck an
oil field. Before the news becomes public, he buys up a lot of stock in his
company. When the news is finally announced, the stock price shoots
through the roof; the CEO resells the stock and makes a bundle.

LEO KATZ, ILL-GOTTEN GAINS: EVASION, BLACKMAIL, FRAUD, AND KINDRED PUZZLES OF
THE LAW 171 (1996); see also GENE G. MARciAL, SECRETS OF THE STREET: THE DARK
SIDE OF MAKING MONEY (1995) (recounting a number of real-life variations on the
"typical scandal" above, with pseudonyms for the actual players).



RUTGERS LAW REVIEW

(ITSFEA). 7
The ITSFEA was specifically designed to "provide greater

deterrence, detection and punishment of violations of insider
trading."8 Among other provisions, the ITSFEA created § 20A, which
provides an express private right of action to individuals who traded
contemporaneously with an inside trader,9 subject to a uniform, five-
year statute of limitations period.10 Congress structured § 20A in a
manner that it hoped would avoid the difficulties inherent in the
implied right of action, "1 which had plagued civil litigants and
federal courts alike.12 These difficulties included a non-uniform
statute of limitations period,13 under-inclusive standing for civil
litigants,'4 and more generally, the fundamental problems inherent
in proving incidents of securities fraud. 15

This Note argues that since § 20A was enacted, intervening
Supreme Court decisions and congressional enactments, in addition
to fundamental changes in global markets, have effectively put its
goals further out of reach. So little remains of the § 20A cause of
action that, in recent years, its sole use has been as a procedural end-
around exploited to resurrect stale insider trading claims. Beyond
such uses, § 20A has simply added another layer of complexity to a
securities fraud regime already lacking coherence, with few, if any,
concomitant benefits. Meanwhile, the civil litigants class that § 20A
was specifically intended to empower continues to lack meaningful
opportunities for legal redress. In light of these developments,
clarifying legislation is needed to remove the pervasive ambiguities
and confusion that have resulted from the well-intended, but
ultimately misguided, attempt to codify an express private right of
action in § 20A.

Part I examines the longstanding, continuously developing
insider trading jurisprudence under § 10(b)16 and Rule 10b-5.17 Part
II places the enactment of the ITSFEA and § 20A within the larger
context of the 1980s business atmosphere, and examines their

7. Pub. L. No. 100-704, 102 Stat. 4677 (1988).
8. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 7 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043, 6044.
9. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(a) (2006).

10. Id. § 78t-l(b)(4).
11. H.R. REP. NO. 100-910, at 26-28 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,

6063-65.
12. See, e.g., discussion infra Part III.A.
13. See discussion infra Part III.A.
14. See discussion infra Part IA-B.
15. See discussion infra Part VI; see also H.R. REP. NO. 100-910, at 26-28 (1988),

reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043, 6063-65.
16. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2006).
17. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2008).
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history and development. Parts III through VI examine the pervasive
ambiguity and disjointedness of the various federal courts'
application of § 20A's elements with respect to statutes of limitation,
contemporaneity, damages, and heightened pleading requirements.
These sections also contextualize intervening Supreme Court
decisions and Congressional enactments that have slowly but surely
placed § 20A further from its intended goals of providing civil redress
to litigants and legal coherence to the securities laws. Finally, Part
VII examines possible legislative approaches to supplant the current
regime with a right of action that is both meaningful and uniform,
and provides a minimum level of predictability.

I. INSIDER TRADING PRIOR TO THE ITSFEA-THE IMPLIED RIGHT OF
ACTION UNDER § 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION RULE 1OB-5

Prohibitions against insider trading date back to 1909, when
liability was premised on a corporate director's fiduciary duty of
disclosure. 18 The original insider trading cause of action, however,
came to be embodied in § 10(b) of the Exchange Act of 1934,19 which
provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the
use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of
the mails, or of any facility of any national securities exchange-

(b) To use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any
security registered on a national securities exchange or any
security not so registered ... any manipulative or deceptive device
or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the
Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of investors. 20

Section 10(b) must be read in conjunction with Rule 10b-521
promulgated thereunder by the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC):

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the
use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of
the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange,
(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements

18. See Strong v. Repide, 213 U.S. 419 (1909); supra note 2.
19. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2006).
20. Id.
21. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2008).
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made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading, or
(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,
in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 22
Section 10(b) and its companion Rule 10b-5 do not by their terms

create a private remedy for aggrieved parties. In fact, "there is no
indication that Congress, or the Commission when adopting Rule
10b-5, contemplated such a remedy."23 The Act was to be
administered by the SEC, which was granted full enforcement
powers over violations.24 Further, the Senate and House reports, as
well as congressional comments on the bill, contemplated civil
liability only in the context of provisions where it was explicitly
authorized.25 It was never disputed, however, that the Act was
intended "to protect the investors of the United States against fraud
and imprudent investments,"26 an intent reiterated in some thirty-
five separate sections of the Act itself.27 Private enforcement,
therefore, came to be viewed as not only compatible with
administrative enforcement, but essential to the statutory policy

22. Id.
23. Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 196 (1976) (footnotes omitted).

Professor Louis Loss, who was present "at the creation" of Rule 10b-5, noted:
The Commission got what it wanted: a handle for investigating and
obtaining injunctive relief against insiders who were buying their companies'
stock. The writer can vouch that nobody at the Commission table gave any
indication that he was remotely thinking of civil liability. That was the
function of the Third Branch, aided and abetted, to be sure, by the
Commission's frequent appearances as amicus curiae. And the courts have
responded with such gusto that there are now two multivolume treatises
devoted primarily to Rule 10b-5.

LOUIS Loss, FUNDAMENTALS OF SECURITIES REGULATION 726-27 (2d ed. 1988)
(footnotes omitted). Milton V. Freeman, the author of Rule 10b-5, remarked: "It has
been developed by the private lawyers, the members of the Bar, with the assistance or,
if you don't like it, connivance of the federal judiciary, who thought this was a very fine
fundamental idea and that it should be extended." Milton Freeman, Remarks at
Conference on Codification of the Federal Securities Laws (Nov. 18, 1966), in 22 Bus.
LAW. 793, 922 (1967).

24. See Note, Implied Liability Under the Securities Exchange Act, 61 HARv. L.
REV. 858, 860-65 (1948).

25. Id.; cf. Robert S. Rubin & Myer Feldman, Statutory Inhibitions Upon Unfair
Use of Corporate Information by Insiders, 95 U. PA. L. REV. 468, 498 (1947) ("[The
essential question in each case is the intent of the legislature to confer or withhold
such relief. Ordinarily intent to give such a remedy will be found unless there is clear
indication to the contrary.").

26. 78 CONG. REC. 7861 (1934).
27. Baird v. Franklin N.Y. Yacht Club, 141 F.2d 238, 244-45 (2d Cir. 1944) (Clark,

J., dissenting).
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evinced by the Act.28 That is, the implied private right of action
simultaneously compensated victims of unlawful practices, disclosed
such violations to the market, and operated to deter future
transgressions.29 Consequently, as early as 1946, federal courts
implied a private right of action for aggrieved shareholders as a
general matter of tort law.30 By 1971, when the Supreme Court had
its first opportunity to review the matter, it confirmed the implied
private right of action without any extended discussion. 31

A. The Fiduciary Theory of Insider Trading

Read in concert, the antifraud provisions of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-
5 impose a duty on corporate insiders to "either disclose nonpublic
corporate information or abstain from trading in the securities of
that corporation."32 But who is, and who is not, the relevant insider?
The answer determined who had statutory standing to bring a civil
action.

Prior to 1988, when the ITSFEA was enacted, two possibilities
existed. The first argued that an insider, for purposes of § 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5, included "such corporate figures as directors and vice
presidents, [and other] persons who have access to confidential
information and therefore owe a duty to a corporation's shareholders
not to trade on that information."33 In addition to these "traditional"
insiders were those "non-traditional" insiders to whom the duty had

28. See Note, supra note 24, at 863-64.
29. Id.
30. See Kardon v. Nat'l Gypsum Co., 69 F. Supp. 512, 514 (E.D. Pa. 1946); see also

Speed v. Transamerica Corp., 71 F. Supp. 457 (D. Del. 1947); cf. David S. Ruder, Civil
Liability Under Rule 1Ob-5: Judicial Revision of Legislative Intent?, 57 Nw. U. L. REV.
627, 631-35 (1963) (disputing the applicability of general tort principles to derive a
private right of action under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5). Notably, the SEC filed amicus
curiae in Kardon, evincing its belief that private enforcement of the securities laws
would not inhibit its own enforcement efforts. See Note, supra note 24, at 864; see also
supra note 23.

31. Superintendent of Ins. of N.Y. v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 404 U.S. 6
(1971); see also Herman & MacLean v. Huddleston, 459 U.S. 375, 380 n.10 (1983)
(recounting briefly the history and unanimity of the district and circuit courts in
validating an implied private cause of action under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5). To state a
claim under § 10(b) and "Rule 10b-5, a plaintiff must allege (1) a misleading statement
or omission of a material fact; (2) made in connection with the purchase or sale of
securities; (3) with intent to defraud or recklessness; (4) reliance; and (5) damages."
Grossman v. Novell, 120 F.3d 1112, 1118 (10th Cir. 1997); see also discussion infra
Part VI.

32. Moss v. Morgan Stanley Inc., 719 F.2d 5, 11 (1983); accord SEC v. Texas Gulf
Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833 (2d Cir. 1968) (en banc), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 976 (1969).

33. Moss, 719 F.2d at 11 n.9 (citing Dirks v. SEC, 681 F.2d 824, 835 (D.C. Cir.
1982), rev'd on other grounds, 463 U.S. 646 (1983)).
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been extended by case law:34 that is, "persons who have no special
access to corporate information but who do have a special
relationship of 'trust' and 'confidentiality' with the issuer or seller of
the securities."35

B. The Misappropriation Theory of Insider Trading

In contrast to this fiduciary-centric conceptualization was the
misappropriation theory. Expounded by Chief Justice Burger's
dissenting opinion in Chiarella v. United States,36 the
misappropriation theory read § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 to mean that
any person who improperly obtained material, nonpublic
information, by simple virtue of possession, had "an absolute duty to
disclose that information or to refrain from trading" on the basis of
it.37 Chief Justice Burger's interpretation was premised on the
"unfairness inherent in trading on such information when it is
inaccessible to those with whom one is dealing."38 Although the

34. For instance, in SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U.S. 180
(1963), the Supreme Court held that defendant violated such a duty where as an
investment adviser he purchased stock for his own account, issued a recommendation
thereafter to his clients to purchase the stock, and subsequently sold the shares at a
profit due to favorable bidding. See also Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406
U.S. 128 (1972); Zweig v. Hearst Corp., 594 F.2d 1261 (9th Cir. 1979).

35. Moss, 719 F.2d at 11.
36. 445 U.S. 242 (1980).
37. Id. at 240 (Burger, J., dissenting). This view was subject to substantial

criticism:
Although some commentators have suggested a dichotomy between inside
information and "market information" (i.e., information about the market
for a company's securities as distinct from information about its assets and
earning power), market information that emanates from the issuer is inside
information, and information about assets and earning power obtained
from SEC filings is outside information. The same information can
therefore be either inside or outside information. A market researcher or
columnist who concludes from published information that a certain
company is ripe for a takeover bid, the person making the tender offer,
an employee of the tender offeror who misuses the information, and even a
stock market specialist or broker who observes preparations for the tender
offer, all use outside market information when they trade in target
securities. By contrast, the target executive who learns of the impending
offer by virtue of his employment uses inside market information when he
trades in target stock. The important factor is not the type of information, so
long as it is material, but its source.

John F. Barry III, The Economics of Outside Information and Rule 10b-5, 129 U. PA. L.
REV. 1307, 1309-10 n.ll (1981).

38. 445 U.S. at 241 (citation omitted); see also Victor Brudney, Insiders, Outsiders,
and Informational Advantages Under the Federal Securities Laws, 93 HARv. L. REV.
322, 329, 332 n.36 (1979) ("Neither the history nor the policy of the antifraud
provisions (and certainly not their language) confines their coverage to corporate
insiders and corporate information .... ); Nat Stern, The Constitutionalization of Rule
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fiduciary theory of insider trading prevailed in Chiarella, Chief
Justice Burger was vindicated to a certain degree by § 20A, which
was "specifically intended to overturn court cases which have
precluded recovery for plaintiffs where the defendant's violation is
premised upon the misappropriation theory."39

II. THE "DECADE OF GREED," THE ITSFEA, AND § 20A

A. The "Decade of Greed'--Insider Trading in the 1980s

Beyond remedying the shortcomings of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
jurisprudence in providing civil redress to injured shareholders, the
ITSFEA came in direct response to the insider trading scandals of
the 1980s.40 These incidents exposed a business atmosphere so
corrupted by corporate greed that it implicated many of the largest
and most well-renowned firms on Wall Street.41 Dennis Levine-a
preeminent merger specialist at Smith Barney, Lehman Brothers,
and Drexel Burnham Lambert-made countless "day trips to the
Bahamas," where he used "pay phones to relay his instructions" in an
elaborate scheme to capitalize on confidential client information,42

lob-5, 27 RUTGERS L.J. 1, 15 (1995) ("In superimposing a pre-existing duty
requirement on the actual language of section 10(b), the Court departed from its
avowed philosophy of statutory construction in this area.").

39. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 26 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,
6063.

40. Robert Wuthnow, among many others, essentialized the period with the
slogan: "Whoever dies with the most toys wins." ROBERT WUTHNOW, ACTS OF
COMPASSION: CARING FOR OTHERS AND HELPING OURSELVES 18 (1991) (citation
omitted). In popular culture, financial tycoon Gordon Gecko epitomized the era when
he implored to shareholders:

The point is, ladies and gentleman, that greed-for lack of a better word-is
good. Greed is right. Greed works. Greed clarifies, cuts through and captures
the essence of the evolutionary spirit. Greed, in all of its forms-greed for
life, for money, for love, knowledge-has marked the upward surge of
mankind. And greed, you mark my words, will not only save Teldar Paper,
but that other malfunctioning corporation called the USA. Thank you very
much."

WALL STREET (Twentieth Century Fox 1987). Gecko was, of course, a fictional
character, but his exhortations were based on a 1986 commencement address delivered
by Ivan Boesky at the University of California Berkeley Business School, in which he
assuredly stated: "Greed is all right, by the way. I want you to know that. I think
greed is healthy. You can be greedy and still feel good about yourself." JAMES B.
STEWART, DEN OF THIEVES 223 (1991); see also David Vogel, How Boesky Advanced the
Cause of Equal Opportunity in Scandal, SAN FRAN. CHRON., Dec. 15, 1986, at 25
(describing the circumstances behind Boesky's address); infra notes 43, 45-46 and
accompanying text.

41. See, e.g., Poll Finds Majority Thinks Insider Trading is Common, WALL ST. J.,
June 6, 1986, at 3 (reporting that 69% of American adults and 76% of investors
believed insider trading to be "common").

42. See Susan Dentzer et al., Greed on Wall Street, NEWSWEEK, May 26, 1986, at
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netting approximately $12.6 million over a six-year period.43 In the
so-called "Yuppie Five" scandal, Michael David, an associate at the
law firm of Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison, pleaded guilty
to passing information from his firm to three other Wall Street
professionals and an investor, all of whom were under the age of
thirty.44 Ivan Boesky, renowned as a world-class arbitrageur,45 was
forced to pay $100 million in penalties and ill-gotten profits for using
Levine's information to capitalize on impending takeovers.46 And
Michael Milken, hailed by many as the inventor of high-yield junk
bond financing,47 paid $200 million in fines and disgorged $400
million in profits after pleading guilty to six of ninety-eight securities
and reporting fraud violations.48 Levine, David, Boesky, Milken, and
others were prosecuted under, inter alia, the Insider Trading and
Sanctions Act of 1984.49 The shear breadth of the scandals, however,
highlighted the inadequacy of the existing statutory framework for
prosecuting and deterring insider trading violations. 50

B. The Legislative Response: The ITSFEA

In an effort to fill the gaps in the existing statutory framework,
the ITSFEA: (1) authorized the SEC to seek civil penalties against

44; see also James B. Stewart, Tracing a Scandal, WALL ST. J., July 15, 1987.
43. INGO WALTER, THE SECRET MONEY MARKET 108 (1990). Levine allegedly

traded on inside information in fifty-four separate takeover situations, but
astonishingly, neither he nor his employees had been engaged as investment bankers
in thirty-five of these cases. James B. Stewart, Fallen Star, WALL ST. J., May 15, 1986.
Such statistics suggested that insider information sharing among investment bankers,
arbitragers, and commercial bankers had been institutionalized within the broader
corporate culture. Id. Unsurprisingly, Levine's prosecution implicated countless
others, most notably Ivan Boesky. See WALTER, supra, at 108-15.

44. See Guilty Plea in 'Yuppie 5' Case, CHI. TRIB., Nov. 27, 1986, at C3.
45. See Connie Bruck, "My Master is my Purse," ATLANTIC MONTHLY, Dec. 1984, at

94 (detailing the business of risk arbitrage and Boesky's successes in the field); Gwen
Kinkead, Money Machine, FORTUNE, Aug. 6, 1984, at 102.

46. DOUGLAS FRANTZ, LEVINE & CO. 343 (1987); see also supra note 43.
47. See FRANTZ, supra note 46, at 122-23.
48. JAMES B. STEWART, DEN OF THIEVES 433-38 (1991); see also BENJAMIN J.

STEIN, A LICENSE TO STEAL (1992); cf. DANIEL R. FISCHEL, PAYBACK: THE CONSPIRACY
TO DESTROY MICHAEL MILKEN AND HIS FINANCIAL REVOLUTION (1995). Despite paying
considerable civil penalties, upon serving his prison sentence Milken reconstituted his
personal fortune, and as of 2007, had an approximate net worth of $2.1 billion. Mark
Lacter, Money Matters, L.A. MAG., June 1, 2007, at 115; see also infra note 54.

49. Pub. L. No. 98-376, 98 Stat. 1264 (1986); see also H.R. REP. NO. 98-355 (1983),
reprinted in 1984 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2274.

50. The ITSFEA was unanimously adopted by the House and Senate. In fact,
"Congress was so eager to bring insider-trading legislation home to the voters that the
Senate passed the House version of the bill at the very end of the session without even
holding committee hearings or issuing a report." Richard M. Phillips, New Insider
Trading Legislation, NAT'L. L.J., Nov. 14, 1988, at 17; accord infra note 66.
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"controlling persons";51 (2) imposed a duty on broker-dealers and
investment advisers to establish, maintain, and enforce internal
policies and procedures designed to prevent the misuse of insider
information;52 (3) authorized the SEC to pay bounties to whistle-
blowers; 53 (4) increased criminal penalties for fines and
imprisonment;54 (5) created an express private right of action for
contemporaneous traders in § 20A;55 and (6) enhanced the SEC's
authority to cooperate with foreign governmental authorities. 56

As a structural matter, the ordering of these provisions is not
without significance. In extolling the virtues of the ITSFEA, its
drafters organized the provisions into three distinct tiers.57 In the
first tier was control person liability, consistently described by
Congressional members as the "centerpiece" of the ITSFEA.58 In the

51. See generally Barbara Bader Aldave, The Insider Trading and Securities Fraud
Enforcement Act of 1988: An Analysis and Appraisal, 52 ALB. L. REV. 893, 905-12
(1988).

52. See H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 15 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,
6052.

53. See generally Howard M. Friedman, The Insider Trading and Securities Fraud
Enforcement Act of 1988, 68 N.C. L. Rev. 465, 479-80 (1990).

54. See generally id. at 480-81. Congress was especially concerned about the
relatively lax punishment for such egregious insider trading violations. Senator
William Proxmire (D-WI), for instance, entered into the record the "saga" of Paul
Thayer, convicted of tipping off friends on takeover bids for Bendix and Campbell-
Taggert:

Served 14 months of four-year prison term, longest ever received in insider-
trading case. Released last December from Dallas halfway house, where he
worked as trainee at property-management concern. Re-entered business
world by gaining board seats at two tiny, publicly held concerns:
Computerbase International Inc., Irvine, Calif., and Environmental
Processing Inc., Dallas. Acquired 15% of Computerbase stock for about $1
million.

134 CONG. REC. 86531 (daily ed. May 25, 1988) (statement of Sen. Proxmire). Thayer
was hardly the only individual to successfully re-enter the business world after a
relatively brief stint of incarceration. Id.; see also sources cited supra note 48. For a
personal account of Ivan Boesky's life after prison, see GENE G. MARCIAL, SECRETS OF
THE STREET 7-18 (1995), and STEWART, supra note 48, at 448 ("[Boesky] lives in
France, dividing his time between his apartment in Paris and his house on the C6te
d'Azur ... [while he] arrives at meetings in chauffeured limousines and has been seen
dining at expensive Manhattan restaurants.").

55. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(a) (2006).
56. This provision came in response to the ease with which inside traders could

hide their illegal activities through the use of foreign bank accounts. See generally
Friedman, supra note 53, at 492-93; Stuart J. Kaswell, An Insider's View of the Insider
Trading and Securities Fraud Enforcement Act of 1988, 45 BUS. LAW. 145, 171-75
(1989-1990).

57. The legislative history is in accord. See H.R. REP. No. 100-910 (1988), reprinted
in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043.

58. See, e.g., 134 CONG. REC. E3078-04 (daily ed. Sept. 13, 1988) (statement of Rep.
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second tier were the "main elements," which included the duties of
broker-dealers to enhance internal security measures, the ability of
the SEC to offer bounties to whistleblowers, and increased criminal
and financial penalties for violators.59 And finally, in the third tier
were the express private right of action for contemporaneous inside
traders and the SEC's authority to cooperate with foreign
governmental authorities.60 In this context, Congress viewed the
individual enforcement of insider trading laws embodied in the
newly-enacted § 20A as an appropriate and necessary supplement to
the traditional enforcement mechanisms already in place. 61

The ITSFEA was also significant for what it did not do. Notably,
the ITSFEA did not adopt an authoritative definition of what
actually constituted "insider trading."62 Remarkably, "insider
trading" is not defined in the primary federal acts regulating
securities transactions-the Securities Act of 1933 and the Exchange
Act of 1934; nor can a definition be found in the catchall anti-fraud
provisions of § 10(b) or Rule 10b-5.63 Indeed, the SEC has historically
opposed such efforts, fearing that a strict definition would hamper its
efforts to prosecute all violations it considered to be in fundamental
contravention of the securities laws.64 In 1987, however, the SEC
proposed legislation as a precursor to the ITSFEA that codified
illegal insider trading as the unlawful trading in a security while in
possession of "material, nonpublic information" when use of the
information was deemed "wrongful."65 Ultimately, however, the

Markey).
59. Id.
60. Where members of Congress actually mentioned the new express private right

of action, they relegated it to a third tier. See, e.g., 134 CONG. REC. S17218 (daily ed.
Oct. 21, 1988) (statement of Sen. Proxmire); id. at S17219 (statement of Sen. Heinz);
id. at S17219-20 (statement of Sen. Garn); id. at 7467-68 (daily ed. Sept. 13, 1988)
(statement of Rep. Markey); id. at H7469 (statement of Rep. Dingell). Others did not
mention it at all. See, e.g., Id. at S17219 (daily ed. Sept. 21, 1988) (statement of Sen.
D'Amato); id. at E2961 (daily ed. Sept. 15, 1988) (statement of Rep. Oxley); id. at
H7465, 7468 (daily ed. Sept. 13, 1988) (statement of Rep. Rinaldo); id. at H7470
(statement of Rep. Cooper); id. at H7470-71 (statement of Rep. Eckart). Only one
member bucked the trend, raising contemporaneous trading liability as the second
provision. See id. at H7469-70 (statement of Rep. Lent).

61. See Peter J. Hennin, Between Chiarella and Congress: A Guide to the Private
Cause of Action for Insider Trading Under the Federal Securities Laws, 39 U. KAN. L.
REV. 1, 2-3 (1990).

62. See Fred D'Amato, Comment, Equitable Claims to Disgorged Insider Trading
Profits, 1989 Wis. L. REV. 1433, 1439 & n.29 (1989).

63. See Hennin, supra note 61, at 2.
64. See id. at 3 & n.8 (recounting the efforts of Senator D'Amato to adopt a

definition in 1984).
65. Id. at 2-3. The Insider Trading Proscriptions Act of 1987 made it unlawful for

any person to:
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drafters of the ITSFEA believed that any statutory definition "could
potentially be narrowing, and in an unintended manner facilitate
schemes to evade the law."66

C. The Express Cause of Action Under § 20A

1. Legislative Purpose

Rather than modify the definition of an inside trader, § 20A
simply vested statutory standing in those individuals that traded
contemporaneously with the alleged inside trader.67 Congress
specifically cited Moss v. Morgan Stanley Inc.68 as a case in which a
plaintiff would be afforded recovery under the newly-enacted
provision.69 In Moss, the Warner-Lambert Company (Warner)
retained Defendant's mergers and acquisitions department to assess
the desirability of purchasing Deseret Pharmaceutical Company
(Deseret).70 Edmond Jacques Courtois, Jr., one of Defendant's
employees, acquired knowledge of Warner's intended tender offer7l

[Plurchase, sell, or cause the purchase or sale of, any security, while in
possession of material, nonpublic information relating thereto, if such person
knows or recklessly disregards that such information has been obtained
wrongfully, or that such purchase or sale would constitute a wrongful use of
such information. For the purposes of this subsection, such trading while in
possession of material, nonpublic information is wrongful only if such
information has been obtained by, or its use would constitute, directly or
indirectly, (A) theft, bribery misrepresentation, espionage (through electric
or other means) or (B) conversion, misappropriation, or any other breach of a
fiduciary duty, breach of any personal or other relationship of trust and
confidence, or breach of any contractual or employment relationship.

19 Sec. Reg. & L. Rep. (BNA) 1817, § 2(b)(1) (1987). See generally Aldave, supra note
51, at 897-900.

66. H.R. Rep. No. 100-910, at 11, reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. at 6048. Despite
its extensive reporting of the insider trading scandals, the Wall Street Journal
criticized the relative haste with which the ITSFEA was enacted, quipping that "[iun
the dark of the night, someone decided to wrap a neat gift for American lawyers and
British stockbrokers." Editorial, The 2 A.M. Wall Street Raid, WALL ST. J., Oct. 25,
1988, at A26; see also Thomas W. Joo, Legislation and Legitimation: Congress and
Insider Trading in the 1980s, 82 IND. L.J. 575, 588 (2007) ("On one level Congress was
reacting to a crisis, real or imagined, partly constructed by prosecutors. On another
level Congress was actively attempting to construct the 'insider trading crisis' as a
political symbol."); cf. Kaswell, supra note 56, at 147-51 & n.36 (recounting how the
ITSFEA, in spite of only a single public hearing, was the result of "substantial public
discussion and intense private debate").

67. In re MicroStrategy, Inc. Sec. Litig., 115 F. Supp. 2d 620, 662 (E.D. Va. 2000).
68. 719 F.2d 5 (2d Cir. 1983).
69. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 26 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,

6063.
70. 719 F.2d at 8.
71. Id. There is no statutory or regulatory definition of "tender offer." Julian

Velasco, Taking Shareholder Rights Seriously, 41 U.C. DAVIS. L. REV. 605, 620 (2007).
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and engaged Adrian Antoniu and James M. Newman, a stockbroker,
to purchase 11,700 shares of Deseret (the target company) for $28
per share.72 The following day, the New York Stock Exchange halted
trading in Deseret stock until Warner publicly announced its tender
offer for Deseret at $38 per share.73 The trio subsequently tendered
their shares for a substantial profit. 74

The issue in Moss was whether a contemporaneous trader had a
cause of action under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 "against a person who
purchased 'target' shares on the basis of material nonpublic
information which he acquired from the tender offeror's investment
adviser."75 Moss argued that he had proper standing because "any
person who 'misappropriates' information owes a general duty of
disclosure to the entire marketplace."76 The Court, however, was not
persuaded. While it agreed "that the general purpose of the securities
laws is to protect investors,"77 it considered Moss's theory to "depart
radically from the established doctrine that duty arises from a
specific relationship between two parties... [and] should not be
undertaken absent some explicit evidence of congressional intent." 78

In enacting § 20A, Congress provided such "explicit evidence of
congressional intent," unequivocally establishing that "the
misappropriation theory fulfills appropriate regulatory objectives in
determining when communicating or trading while in possession of
material nonpublic information is unlawful."79

It is most commonly described as "a general, publicized bid by an individual or group
to buy shares of a publicly-owned company, the shares of which were traded on a
national securities exchange, at a price substantially above the current market price."
Hanson Trust PLC v. SCM Corp., 774 F.2d 47, 54-55 (2d Cir. 1985). In establishing the
existence of a "tender offer," courts typically apply the eight-factor Wellman test. See
SEC v. Carter Hawley Hale Stores, Inc., 760 F.2d 945, 950 (9th Cir. 1985).

72. Moss, 719 F.2d at 8.
73. Id.
74. Id. At $10 net profit per share, Courtois, Antoniu, and Newman earned

$117,000 minus brokerage fees in a period of just one week. This windfall, however,
was short-lived. Newman was convicted on fourteen counts of securities and mail
fraud, and one count of conspiracy; Antoniu cooperated with the government and pled
guilty to an Information based on his role; and Courtois, who at first fled, pled guilty to
conspiracy and fraud charges. Id. at 9-10 n.6; see also Former Morgan Stanley Officer
Sentenced for Insider Trading, AM. BANKER, Feb. 15, 1984, at 26.

75. 719 F.2d at 8.
76. Id. at 16.
77. Id.
78. Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 242,

233 (1980)).
79. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 26-27 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,

6063-64. The Supreme Court ultimately incorporated the misappropriation theory into
§ 10(b) and Rule lob-5 in United States v. O'Hagan, 521 U.S. 642 (1997) nearly a
decade after § 20A was enacted. The misappropriation theory adopted in O'Hagan,
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2: The Statutory Framework for § 20A Plaintiffs

Section 20A provides in pertinent part:
Any person who violates any provision of this title or the rules or
regulations thereunder by purchasing or selling a security while in
possession of material, nonpublic information shall be liable in an
action in any court of competent jurisdiction to any person who,
contemporaneously with the purchase or sale of securities that is
the subject of such violation, has purchased (where such violation is
based on a sale of securities) or sold (where such violation is based
on a purchase of securities) securities of the same class.80
To state a cause of action under § 20A, a plaintiff must first

allege an independent, predicate violation of the Exchange Act of
1934,81 or rules and regulations therewith.82 This violation must
involve trading while in possession of material, nonpublic
information.83 Second, the plaintiff must establish statutory standing
through a "contemporaneous" sale or purchase of a security.84 The
security must be of the "same class" as that sold or purchased by the
inside trader.85 Further, the plaintiffs transaction must be on "the
opposite side of the market from the inside[] trader."86 Being an
incident of fraud, the complaint must also be pled with particularity
pursuant to Rule 9(b).87 Further, the § 20A plaintiff must file his or
her complaint within five years "after the date of the last transaction

however, was considerably narrower than that advocated by Chief Justice Burger in
Chiarella.

Under the misappropriation theory urged in this case, the disclosure
obligation runs to the source of the information .... Chief Justice Burger,
dissenting in Chiarella, advanced a broader reading of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-
5; the disclosure obligation, as he envisioned it, ran to those with whom the
misappropriator trades .... The Government does not propose that we adopt
a misappropriation theory of that breadth.

Id. at 655 n.6 (citations omitted).
80. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(a) (2006).
81. Jackson Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. Merrill Lynch & Co., 32 F.3d 697, 703-04 (2d Cir.

1994) (holding that a § 20A plaintiff must allege a predicate violation of the 1934 Act,
rather than the 1933 Act, because the latter entails a lower threshold of liability and
Congress evinced a clear intent to limit such claims to a three-year statute of
limitations).

82. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-1(a) (2006).
83. Id.
84. Id.
85. Id.; In re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative & "ERISA Litig.," 258 F. Supp. 2d 576,

599 (S.D. Tex. 2003).
86. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 26 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,

6063; see also 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(a) (2006).
87. FED. R. Civ. P. 9(b); City of Philadelphia v. Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245, 1258

(10th Cir. 2001).
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that is the subject of the violation."88 Finally, upon receiving a
favorable verdict, damages are limited to profits gained or losses
avoided,89 and are otherwise offset by recovery under other
provisions of the Exchange Act. 90

As compared to the implied right of action, the statutory
framework established by § 20A appears to be relatively
straightforward. Approximately two decades of jurisprudence,
however, have shown that § 20A's apparent simplicity betrays the
fundamental difficulties attending its application.

III. STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS UNDER § 20A: LAMPFREDUX?

A. Statutes of Limitations Under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

A prima facie element of a § 20A claim is an independent,
predicate violation involving an inside sale or purchase of a
security. 91 Section 20A plaintiffs typically satisfy this requirement by
predicating their claim on the implied private right of action
embodied in § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.92 Insofar as the implied private
right of action is a purely judicial creation,93 however, it is not
governed by an express statute of limitations.94 Prior to 1991, federal
courts simply "borrowed the most analogous statute of limitation"95
from the forum state.9 6 As a result, the applicable limitations period

88. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(b)(4) (2006).
89. Id. § 78t-l(b)(1).
90. See id. § 78t-l(b)(2).
91. See supra text accompanying notes 80-83.
92. See Eric Landau & Shawn Harpen, Which Limitations Period Applies to

Insider Trading Claims?, in SECURITIES LITIGATION & ENFORCEMENT INSTITUTE 2004,
at 201, 204 (PLI Corp. Law & Practice Course Handbook Series No. 2773, Sept. - Oct.
2004), available at 1442 PLI/CORP 204 (Westlaw).

93. See supra notes 23-29 and accompanying text.
94. Cf. Stephen H. Schulman, Statutes of Limitation in 10b-5 Actions:

Complication Added to Confusion, 13 WAYNE L. REV. 635, 636-37 (1967) ("As a result
of the lack of congressional foresight that a civil action would arise from the violation
of a regulation to be issued under section 10(b), the legislature did not provide a
limitation period specifically applicable to such suits.").

95. Christopher R. Leslie, Den of Inequity: The Case for Equitable Doctrines in
Rule 1Ob-5 Cases, 81 CAL. L. REV. 1587, 1598 (1993).

96. This approach was in accord with the general principle that, with respect to
federally created rights, "the silence of Congress has been interpreted to mean that it
is federal policy to adopt the local law of limitation." Holmberg v. Armbrecht, 327 U.S.
392, 395 (1946) (citing Rawlings v. Ray, 312 U.S. 96 (1941); Chattanooga Foundry &
Pipe Works v. City of Atlanta, 203 U.S. 390 (1906); Campbell v. City of Haverhill, 155
U.S. 610 (1895)). Further, the incorporation of state statutes of limitation into federal
law was "a phase of fashioning remedial details where Congress has not spoken but
left matters for judicial determination within the general framework of familiar legal
principles." Id. (citation omitted). The Second Circuit was among the first to
incorporate state statutes of limitation for § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 actions. See
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for two identical § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 suits were governed by
limitations periods that ranged anywhere from one to ten years. 97

Application of the state-borrowing doctrine entailed considerable
difficulties.98 First, as limitations periods differed from state to state,
and in some cases within states, 99 litigants were encouraged to
engage in forum-shopping.100 Further, the non-uniform limitations
period created significant confusion for plaintiffs, who could not be
sure of the applicable limitations period that would govern their
case. 101 Consequently, the disparate limitations periods
"represent[ed] the worst of both worlds: potential defendants [we]re
denied repose and potential plaintiffs [we]re denied uniform
protection." 102

Fischman v. Raytheon Mfg. Co., 188 F.2d 783, 787 (2d Cir. 1951); see also Leslie, supra
note 95, at 1599 n.65 (identifying other circuits that adopted the Armbrecht approach).
The Supreme Court tacitly affirmed the Armbrecht approach in Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 210 n.29 (1976).

97. See, e.g., Sharp v. Coopers & Lybrand, 649 F.2d 175, 191 (3d Cir. 1981) (six-
year); O'Hara v. Kovens, 625 F.2d 15, 17 (4th Cir. 1980) (one-year); Parrent v. Midwest
Rug Mills, Inc., 455 F.2d 123, 126 (7th Cir. 1972) (three-year); Pinney v. Edward D.
Jones & Co., 718 F. Supp. 1419, 1421 (W.D. Ark. 1989) (five-year); Denny v.
Performance Sys., Inc., No. 6134, 1971 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10925, at *8 (M.D. Tenn. Nov.
5, 1971) (ten-year). For a broader overview of the applicable statute of limitations as of
the mid-1980s, see Comm. on Fed. Regulation of Sec., Report of the Task Force on
Statute of Limitations for Implied Actions, 41 BUS. LAW. 645, app. B at 662-66 (1986).

98. See generally Comm. on Fed. Regulation of Sec., supra note 97. Judge
Easterbrook described the approach as "one tottering parapet of a ramshackle edifice."
Norris v. Wirtz, 818 F.2d 1329, 1332 (7th Cir. 1987).

99. See Thomas Stewart, Case Notes: One Statute, One Statute of Limitations; At
Last Uniformity for Section 10(b) Claims: Lampf, Pleva, Lipkind, Prupis & Petigrow v.
Gilbertson, 60 U. CIN. L. REV. 533, 558 n.199 (1991) (describing how the Eastern,
Western, and Middle District Courts of Tennessee used different limitation periods for
§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims throughout the 1980s); cf. David S. Ruder & Neil S.
Cross, Limitations on Civil Liability Under Rule 10b-5, 1972 DUKE L.J. 1125, 1147-48
(describing how even a uniform rule in the Seventh Circuit created different
limitations periods within the circuit for the same fundamental cause of action).

100. See Harold S. Bloomenthal, The Statute of Limitations and Rule 10b-5 Claims:
A Study in Judicial Lassitude, 60 U. COLO. L. REV. 235, 271 (1989) ("Ihe Securities
Exchange Act has a broad venue provision which, given the multi-state contacts
typical of securities transactions and the national service of process provisions, often
permits the plaintiff to select his forum from among several jurisdictions." (footnotes
omitted)); Comment, Statutes of Limitations in 10b-5 Actions: A Proposal for
Congressional Legislation, 24 SYRACUSE L. REV. 1154, 1161 (1973).

101. See In re Data Access Sys. Sec. Litig., 843 F.2d 1537, 1543-44 (3d Cir. 1988);
Comment, supra note 100, at 1163.

102. Leslie, supra note 95, at 1635; see also HAROLD S. BLOOMENTHAL, SECURITIES
LAW HANDBOOK § 25.02(4), at 785 (1989) ("Plaintiffs may be denied a remedy if they
'wrongly postulate[d' the statute the courts determine to apply. Defendants cannot
determine their 'contingent liabilities,' not 'knowing with confidence when their delicts
lie in repose."' (quoting Agency Holding Corp. v. Malley-Duff & Assoc., 483 U.S. 143,
150 (1987))).
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Second, courts expended substantial judicial resources in simply
identifying the most analogous state law. 103 An extreme example was
Kronfeld v. Advest, Inc., a § 10(b) class action in which the court had
to apply limitations periods of one, two, three, and four years to
almost identical claims by plaintiffs from twenty-six different
states.1 0 4 Even after a federal court had established the most
analogous state law, substantive changes in Rule 10b-5
jurisprudence 105 required reconsidering whether federal law was now
more analogous to some other state law. 106 Third, the federal policy
undergirding Rule 10b-5 was often contrary to state statutes of
limitation, which were "designed to serve and promote the policies of
that particular state." 107 As one commentator remarked,

[tihe fact that a state legislature may deem it appropriate to
provide a one year or ten year statute of limitations for an action
,resembling' an action implied under section 10(b) tells us nothing
about whether the Federal policy of that Section requires a short or
long period of limitations. 108

Finally, in 1991, the Supreme Court in Lampf, Pleva, Lipkind,
Prupis & Petigrow v. Gilbertson109 adopted a uniform limitations
period for all claims brought pursuant to § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.
Rather than look to the forum in which the action was brought,

103. The standards employed to make this determination varied considerably. See,
e.g., O'Hara v. Kovens, 625 F.2d 15, 17 (4th Cir. 1980) ("commonality of purpose");
Vanderboom v. Sexton, 422 F.2d 1233, 1239-40 (8th Cir. 1970) ("commonality of
purpose" and "lack of defenses"). Upon determining the most analogous state law, the
court had to choose between applying the limitations period contained in the state's
"blue sky law" (usually two years) or common law fraud (three to six years). Leslie,
supra note 95, at 1599-00. Compare Clute v. Davenport Co., 584 F. Supp. 1562, 1577
(D. Conn. 1984) (two-year Connecticut blue sky), and Friedlander v. Troutman,
Sanders, Lockerman & Ashmore, 788 F.2d 1500, 1506 (11th Cir. 1986) (two-year
Georgia blue sky), with Marx v. Centran Corp., 747 F.2d 1536, 1551 (6th Cir. 1984)
(four-year Ohio common law fraud). See generally Robert B. Martin, Jr., Statutes of
Limitation in 10b-5 Actions: Which State Statute is Applicable?, 29 Bus. LAW. 443
(1973-74); Ruder & Cross, supra note 99, at 1142-47.

104. 675 F. Supp. 1449, 1457-58 (S.D.N.Y. 1987); see also Short v. Belleville Shoe
Mfg. Co., 908 F.2d 1385, 1389 (7th Cir. 1990) ("From the perspective of practitioners
litigating cases originating in many states (especially class actions), the situation is a
nightmare. Lawyers and courts alike devote untold hours to identifying proper state
analogies .... ).

105. E.g., Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 214 (1976) (introducing a
scienter requirement).

106. Leslie, supra note 95, at 1602.
107. David Reisman, Comment, The Move Toward Uniformity: The Statute of

Limitations for Rule 10b-5, 51 LA. L. REV. 667, 679 (1991).
108. Martin, supra note 103, at 454.
109. 501 U.S. 350 (1991), superseded by statute, Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation Improvement Act of 1991, Pub. L. No. 102-242, 105 Stat. 2236 (1991)
(codified as amended at 15 U.S.C. § 78aa (2006)).



INSIDER TRADING LIABILITY

however, the Supreme Court adopted the statutes of limitation that
governed express causes of action in the Exchange Act.11o Under the
Court's holding, "[]itigation instituted pursuant to § 10(b) and Rule
10b-5... must be commenced within one year after the discovery of
the facts constituting the violation and within three years after such
violation.""' Section 20A was enacted with knowledge of the
disparate limitations periods under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, and as
such, contains an express five-year statute of limitations.

B. Section 20A in the Tenth Circuit

Sterlin v. Biomune Systems, Inc. 112 was among the earliest cases
to address the statute of limitations issue in the wake of Lampf and
the intervening legislative actions of the 1990s. Defendant Biomune
Systems was in the process of developing a drug to treat intestinal
disorders, and during the course of its development, Biomune issued
a number of positive shareholder letters as to its efficacy that were
later called into question by a newspaper article.113 Subsequently,
Plaintiff Roger Sterlin alleged that Biomune Systems, its president,
its director, its founder, and its scientific development institute and
investment corporation engaged in a fraud to manipulate Biomune's
"capital and surplus in order to 'falsely' obtain a NASDAQ listing ...
[so that it] could more easily inflate the price of Biomune Stock with
false and misleading statements, and then 'dump thousands of
shares of Biomune stock on the market."' 114 Sterlin alleged violations
of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, and a § 20A predicated thereon.115 On
motion for summary judgment, the district court dismissed all claims
against all defendants on the grounds that Sterlin had inquiry
notice116 more than one year before filing suit, and as § 10(b) and

110. Id. at 359-61.
111. Id. at 364. Lampf's one-year/three-year limitation and repose period was

subsequently altered in 2002 by the Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor
Act, more commonly known as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Pub. L. No. 107-204, 116 Stat.
745 (2002). Consequently, Sarbanes-Oxley proscribes any § 10(b) or Rule 10b-5 action
from being brought "2 years after the discovery of the facts constituting the violation[,]
or 5 years after such violation," whichever is earlier. 28 U.S.C. § 1658(b)(1)-(2) (2006).

112. 960 F. Supp. 1531 (D. Utah 1997).
113. Id. at 1533-34. The relevant newspaper article intimated that Biomune's true

raison d'etre was to "sell shares-or, at the least, to use shares as currency to keep any
number of its promoters' ventures afloat." Kathryn M. Welling, Question of Immunity,
BARRON'S, Aug. 1, 1994, at 5.

114. 960 F. Supp. at 1534.
115. Id.
116. "Inquiry notice" represents the time at which a plaintiff, through the exercise

of due diligence, would have discovered the untrue statement or omission. Id. at 1535.
In its absence, a plaintiff is subject to the three-year, as opposed to the one-year,
statute of limitations. Id.

2009]
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Rule 10b-5 claims were governed by a one-year statute of limitations,
his claims were time-barred. 117 In effect, the district court sanctioned
the dismissal of a § 20A claim when the underlying predicate
violation-here, a § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 violation-is time-barred by
its own statute of limitations (i.e., the requisite predicate violation
was not "actionable"). 118

Although the Tenth Circuit reversed and remanded the matter
on the grounds that the inquiry notice finding was incomplete, it
acknowledged the effect of the district court's ruling on the § 20A
claim.119 "The district court apparently dismissed Plaintiffs § 20A
claim because the predicate offenses under the 1934 Act, namely the
§ 10(b) claims, were dismissed as time barred."120 Although Plaintiff
had not raised this argument on appeal, the Tenth Circuit remanded
the entire matter, including the issue of "whether [the] § 20A claim
should survive the dismissal of [the] § 10(b) claims," to the district
court. 121 On remand, upon conducting a complete finding on the issue
of inquiry notice, the district court again dismissed the § 20A claim
after concluding that the plaintiffs § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims
were time-barred. 122

C. Section 20A in the Ninth Circuit

To date, Johnson v. Aljian123 contains the most detailed and
thorough examination of § 20A's statute of limitations. Unlike the
Tenth Circuit in Biomune, however, the Ninth Circuit in Aljian came
to the opposite conclusion regarding § 20A's statute of limitations. In
2003, Plaintiff Donald Johnson brought a class action complaint
against Tracinda Corp., its owner Kirk Kerkorian, and officer James
Aljian for insider trading.124 Johnson alleged that defendants "sold
approximately 7.6 million shares of DaimlerChrysler stock between
March 19, 1999, and June 11, 1999" after reading a confidential,

117. Id. at 1534.
118. The district court in Sterlin framed the issue in a manner supportive of this

interpretation: "The dispositive issue before the court is whether the [newspaper]
article triggers the one-year statute of limitations and bars the claims against all
defendants." Id. at 1534.

119. 154 F.3d 1191, 1205 (10th Cir. 1998) ("The district court did not address
whether, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, Plaintiff should have discovered the
facts underlying the alleged fraudulent activity prior to October 12, 1994, one year
before he filed suit.").

120. Id. at 1194 n.5.
121. Id.
122. 114 F. Supp. 2d 1163, 1176 (D. Utah 2000).
123. 490 F.3d 778 (9th Cir. 2007), affg, 394 F. Supp. 2d 1184 (C.D. Cal. 2004), cert.

denied, 128 S. Ct. 1650 (2008).
124. Id. at 779.
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internal report projecting a substantial decline in free cash flows.125
Defendants appealed from the district court's order dismissing all
claims against all defendants as time-barred, except for the § 20A
claim, which it held was within its own five-year statute of
limitations. 126

The issue before the Ninth Circuit was whether § 20A required
an "actionable predicate violation" 127-that is, an underlying
predication violation that is not time-barred by its own statute of
limitations.128 Defendants presented a number of arguments in
support of their position that § 20A did, in fact, require an actionable
predicate violation of the Exchange Act.

First, defendants made the textual argument that § 20A applies
only to a "person who violates any provision of'129 the Exchange Act,
a term that case law has established requires "a viable predicate
violation." 130 The court, however, rejected this analysis as
"introduc[ing] an additional requirement into the text."131 Instead, it
interpreted "violates" to mean simply "that a person has satisfied the
essential elements of the proscribed act regardless of whether an
action is commenced within the applicable statute of limitations." 132

Second, defendants argued that to the extent "violates" means
simply to satisfy the "essential elements of the proscribed act," §
10(b)'s statute of limitations was itself an element of the underlying
predicate violation. 133 This argument was founded on the
longstanding rule that "when the very statute which creates the
cause of action also contains a limitation period, the statute of
limitations not only bars the remedy but also destroys the liability,
and therefore the plaintiff must plead and prove facts showing that
he is within the statute."134 The court, however, countered that this
view had been subject to substantial criticism,135 that it had only

125. Id. at 779-80.
126. 394 F. Supp. 2d at 1203.
127. 490 F.3d at 780 & n.10 (emphasis in original) (citation omitted).
128. Id.
129. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(a) (2006) (emphasis added).
130. 490 F.3d at 781.
131. Id.
132. Id. at 781-82. The Court also referenced the use of "violation" in other areas of

the Exchange Act, concluding that "it challenges common sense to conclude that a
person only 'violates' Section 10(b) if an action is commenced within that period." Id. at
783 (emphasis added).
133. Id. at 781.
134. Id. at 782 n.13 (quoting Cook v. Avien, Inc., 573 F.2d 685, 695 (1st Cir. 1978)).
135. Id. ('To the extent that the rule has persisted, it has done so by blind inertia. It

is time that it was discarded .. " (quoting Tregenza v. Great Am. Comm. Co., 12 F.3d
717, 719 (7th Cir. 1993))).

20091
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been applied to a narrow set of securities fraud actions, 136 and that it
was inconsistent with the general view of Rule 8(c), which treated a
statute of limitation as an affirmative defense. 137

The court concluded138 by noting that Defendants' interpretation
of § 20A would transform its express statute of limitations into mere
"surplusage,"139 and that "[o]nly if Section 20A is independently
governed by its own statute of limitations will that provision retain
meaning."140 Notably, the Ninth Circuit in Aljian did not discuss the
result in Biomune. The District Court, however, described that case
as having "neither engaged in any discussion about, nor gave any
rationale for, its dismissal of the § 20A claims," and that "[i]n the
absence of a substantive rationale," it considered the case
unpersuasive. 141

136. Id.
137. Id. The Court also rejected defendants' argument that Supreme Court

precedent had treated § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5's statute of limitations as an element of
the cause of action. Compare id. (interpreting previous cases as simply referring "to
the statute of limitations as a general dimension of Section 10(b), not an essential
element of the claim"), and Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 341-42 (2005)
(identifying the elements of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 violations as material
misrepresentation, scienter, connection with purchase or sale of security, reliance,
economic loss, and causation), with Musick, Peeler & Garrett v. Employers Ins. of
Wausau, 508 U.S. 286, 295 (1993) ("The text of § 10(b) provides little guidance where
we are asked to specify elements or aspects of the 10b-5 apparatus unique to a private
liability arrangement, including a statute of limitations, a reliance requirement, a
defense to liability, or a right to contribution." (emphasis added and citations
omitted)), and Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A.,
511 U.S. 164, 172 (1994) (noting that in § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 actions, the court has
"decided questions about the elements of the 10b-5 private liability scheme ... [such
as] what the statute of limitations is" (emphasis added)), superseded by statute on other
grounds, Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 § 104, 109 Stat. 757, as
recognized in Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC v. Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., 128 S. Ct. 761
(2008).

138. Defendants also argued that cases from within the Ninth Circuit, as well as
those of sister circuits, had acknowledged, if not sanctioned, that the requirement §
20A requires an actionable predicate violation. See Stoneridge Inv. Partners, LLC, 128
S. Ct. at 783-85.

139. 490 F.3d at 783 (citation omitted).
140. Id.
141. Johnson v. Aljian, 394 F. Supp. 2d 1184, 1194 (C.D. Cal. 2004), affl'd, 490 F.3d

778 (9th Cir. 2007), cert. denied, 128 S. Ct. 1650 (2008). Arguably, the result in
Biomune-the district court's dismissal, both in the original action and on remand-
was a simple matter of judicial negligence. After all, the Circuit Court's order
regarding the § 20A claims was made in a footnote and received no mention in the
remainder of the opinion. See Sterlin v. Biomune Sys., 154 F.3d 1191, 1194 n.5 (10th
Cir. 1998). Whatever the merits of such an argument, it requires presuming that the
Senior District Judge committed judicial negligence on two separate occasions, and
that attorneys for the plaintiff and for the multiple defendants forfeited the matter
without so much as entering it into the record. A conclusion that plaintiffs conceded
the matter is particularly difficult when one considers the financial difficulties of
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D. Reconciling Biomune with Aljian: Legal but Unfair

Aljian's interpretation of § 20A was certainly correct. Were the
court to have allowed a § 20A claim to be governed by the limitations
period of the underlying violation (as was arguably the case in
Biomune142), it would have ostensibly invalidated § 20A's own statute
of limitation. A contrary holding would have also meant that § 20A
claims, prior to the decision in Lampf, would have been governed by,
for instance, a ten-year statute of limitations in Tennessee,143 a five-
year statute of limitations in Arkansas, 144 and a two-year statute of
limitations in Connecticut.145 Such a disparate result would have
been particularly inconceivable in light of § 20A's legislative
history. 146

Nevertheless, from the perspective of the defendant in Aljian,
the result was particularly unfair. After all, the statute of limitations
was the only material difference between the § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
actions that were ultimately dismissed and the § 20A claim that was
permitted to continue. Otherwise, defendants were subject to liability
for the same conduct (i.e., trading on the basis of material, nonpublic
information), constituting the same elemental violation (i.e., the
elements of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5), to the same plaintiff. In
providing differential treatment, however, Aljian frustrated the
ultimate values that underlie statutes of limitation in securities

Biomune Systems during this period. In 1998, NASDAQ instituted a number of
stricter listing requirements, "one of which says that any company whose shares trade
under $1 for 30 days or more is subject to delisting." Steven Overbeck, Nasdaq
Threatens to Delist Some Utah Firms, SALT LAKE TRIB., Oct. 26, 1998. Among those
firms affected were Biomune, which had received notification that it would be de-listed
by mid-January. Id. The company averted such a result when it rapidly instituted a
one-for-ten reverse stock split. Stocks in the News, BUFF. NEWS, Jan. 10, 1999, at B14.

142. See discussion supra Part III.B.
143. Denny v. Performance Sys., Inc., No. 6134, 1971 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10925, at *8

(M.D. Tenn. Nov. 5, 1971).
144. Pinney v. Edward D. Jones & Co., 718 F. Supp. 1419, 1421 (W.D. Ark. 1989).
145. Clute v. Davenport Co., 584 F. Supp. 1562, 1577 (D. Conn. 1984).
146. See Johnson, 394 F. Supp. 2d at 1194 (noting that Congress could have

provided for such a result "by either linking the statute of limitations of the § 20A
claim to that governing the predicate violation," as it did with regard to incorporating
the elements of a § 20A claim, "or by enacting a uniform statute of limitations").
Nevertheless, the court's assertion that "defendants' interpretation would effectively
render Section 20A's express statute of limitations meaningless because the
underlying predicate violation's statute of limitations would always dictate the period
of limitations for a Section 20A action," ignores the fundamental context in which §
20A was enacted. Johnson, 490 F.3d at 783. After all, prior to the Supreme Court's
decision in Lampf, a § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claim in Tennessee was actionable for a
period of ten years. See Denny, No. 6134, 1971 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10925, at *8.
Certainly, a § 20A claim predicated thereon and brought within five years of the last
violation would not be time-barred under § 20A.
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fraud actions: to "protect defendants against unfair surprise and
allow them to make a 'fresh start'; to "preclude fraudulent or stale
claims"; and to allow businesses to properly assess their liabilities
and "formulate long-term strategies."147 Ultimately, Aljian satisfied
the statutory purpose of § 20A's statute of limitations, but in so
doing, frustrated that of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5's.

IV. WHAT IS, AND WHAT IS NOT, "CONTEMPORANEOUS"? MOVING
TOWARDS ACTUAL PRIVITY IN § 20A ACTIONS

A. The Fundamental Contours of Contemporaneity

Section 20A provides an express cause of action to those victims
of insider trading that are otherwise excluded from bringing suit
under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5's implied right of action. 148 The drafters
of § 20A, however, did not define what was, and what was not
"contemporaneous."149 Instead, they acceded to judicial development
of the term. 150

In an effort to define the contours of contemporaneity, federal
courts have analogized the requirement to the reliance and causation
elements 151 in the traditional § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 action.

[T]he contemporaneity requirement serves as a substitute for the
traditional requirement that only those clearly ascertainable
individuals who stand to be exploited by the insider trading-for
example, by personally trading with the insider or, in the context of

147. Leslie, supra note 95, at 1590-91.
148. This is not to suggest that individuals who can bring suit under § 10(b) and

Rule 10b-5 are somehow precluded from doing so under § 20A, but that Congress was
specifically responding to the inability of this class of plaintiffs to recover. See
discussion supra Part II.C.1; see also 28 U.S.C. § 78t-l(d) (2006) ("Nothing in this
section shall be construed to limit or condition the . . . the availability of any cause of
action implied from a provision of [§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5].").

149. See H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 27 & n.22 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N.
at 6064 & n.22.

150. See id. The House report on the ITSFEA explicitly mentioned three § 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 cases as guideposts for the federal courts in determining the metes and
bounds of the contemporaneity requirement. See id. (citing Wilson v. Comtech
Telecomm. Corp., 648 F.2d 88 (2d Cir. 1981); Shapiro v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner
& Smith, Inc., 495 F.2d 228 (2d Cir. 1974); O'Connor & Assoc. v. Dean Witter
Reynolds, Inc., 559 F. Supp. 800 (S.D.N.Y. 1983)). These cases, however, provide little,
if any, guidance. Shapiro held defendant liable to "all persons who during the same
period ... [traded] stock in the open market," without defining what constituted "the
same period." 495 F.2d at 237. Wilson limited the otherwise broad scope of Shapiro
and affirmed dismissal where plaintiff sold his shares one month after defendant's
purchase. 648 F.2d at 94-95. Finally, O'Connor simply held that plaintiffs
contemporaneous trades must occur after defendant's trading on material, nonpublic
information. 559 F. Supp. at 803. That is, one cannot be a victim of fraud until the
fraudulent behavior occurs. See id. (focusing on the element of causation).

151. See supra note 31.
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the federal law, by trading on the same market with the insider-
can be said to have individual interests that are directly implicated
by the insider trading for which they may seek direct redress.152

That is, contemporaneity establishes the "privity" necessary to
authorize suit. Further, because "identifying the party in actual
privity with the insider is virtually impossible," contemporaneity
limits the class of plaintiffs to those who "might, in fact, have traded
with defendant." 153

B. Moving Towards Actual Privity

Adherence to this principle has led to disparate results.154 For
instance, one court held that "[f]ive trading days is a reasonable
period between the insider's sale and the plaintiffs purchase to be
considered contemporaneous."155 On similar facts, however, another
court held that "[a] trade made by any plaintiff more than four days
after a trade by a defendant fails to meet the contemporaneous
requirement."156 Troubled with the lack of a bright-line rule, other
courts have rapidly moved toward a requirement that plaintiff trade
on the same day as the defendant in order to be deemed
c"contemporaneous." 157

In re Aldus Securities Litigation was the first case to require that
plaintiff trade on the same day as defendant in order to qualify as
being contemporaneous. 158  After discussing the role of
contemporaneity as a substitute for privity, the court held:

[G]iven the unquestionably high volume of Aldus stock traded daily
during the period in question, it is clear that plaintiffs did not trade
with defendants ... as no plaintiffs traded on the days of the
allegedly wrongful trades. Plaintiffs thus lack standing to assert

152. In re MicroStrategy, Inc. Sec. Litig., 115 F. Supp. 2d 620, 662 (E.D. Va. 2000)
(emphasis added).

153. Buban v. O'Brien, No. 94-0331, 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8643, at *7-8 (N.D. Cal.
June 16, 1994) (emphasis added); accord In re AST Research Sec. Litig., 887 F. Supp.
231, 234 (C.D. Cal. 1995).

154. It is worth noting that trades outside a certain time period can never comport
with this principle. See, e.g., Chanoff v. U.S. Surgical Corp., 857 F. Supp. 1011, 1021
n.10 (D. Conn. 1994) (more than one month). Such extreme situations, however,
provide little guidance as to the actual limit of the contemporaneity requirement.

155. In re Oxford Health Plans, Inc., Sec. Litig., 187 F.R.D. 133, 144 (S.D.N.Y.
1999).

156. Gerstein v. Micron Tech., Inc., No. 89-1262, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21214, at
*21 (D. Idaho Jan. 4, 1993).

157. Despite their inconsistency, such cases remain good law.
158. No. 92-885, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5008 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 1, 1993). In re

Stratus Computer, Inc. Securities Litigation, No. 89-2075, 1992 WL 73555, at *5-6 (D.
Mass. Mar. 27, 1992) alluded to the same result in dictum, but dismissed plaintiffs'
suits for failure to comply with Rule 9(b).

20091
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insider trading claims against defendants..., and for this reason,
these claims are DISMISSED. 159

While Aldus applied the same-day requirement only in the context of
"high" trading volume, subsequent cases have eliminated this the
fundamental distinction. Instead, these cases require same-day
contemporaneity outright. 160 As one court noted "the modern realities
of the securities markets support an increasingly strict application of
contemporaneity in order at once to satisfy the requirement's privity-
substitute function and to guard against 'making the insider liable to
all the world."'161 Perhaps the broadest interpretation of this
requirement was that contemporaneity "limits recovery to [only]
those plaintiffs who might conceivably have traded at an
informational disadvantage with defendant." 162 Under this
definition, individuals that traded at the exact same moment as the
inside trader would not be "contemporaneous" if they traded at a
different price. Such a view has been cited with approval by a
number of district courts that have adopted the same-day approach,
albeit without reaching its logical conclusion. 163 In light of continuing
increases in market efficiency, the "privity-substitute function"164
will continue to become more inexact in its application.
Consequently, it is unlikely that the same-day rule marks the end of
the continual narrowing of the contemporaneity requirement under §
20A.

V. DAMAGES UNDER § 20A: THE MYTH OF THE PLAINTIFFS' BAR

Section 20A employs a particularly incongruent method of
apportioning damages. In a typical tort action, for instance, a

159. Aldus, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5008, at *22 (emphasis added).
160. See In re AST Research Sec. Litig., 887 F. Supp. 231, 234 (C.D. Cal. 1995) ("The

same day standard is the only reasonable standard given the way the stock market
functions."). But cf. Feldman v. Motorola, Inc., No. 90-5887, 1993 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
14631, at *38 (N.D. Ill. Oct. 14, 1993) ("Generally, the contemporaneity requirement is
not met if a plaintiffs trades occurred more than a few days apart from a defendant's
transactions. In the context of stock heavily traded on a daily basis, it has been held
that trades are not contemporaneous unless they take place on the same day." (citation
omitted) (citing Aldus, 1993 U.S. Dist. Lexis 5008, at *21-22)).

161. In re MicroStrategy, Inc. Sec. Litig., 115 F. Supp. 2d 620, 663 (E.D. Va. 2000)
(citation omitted).

162. Buban v. O'Brien, No. 94-0331, 1994 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8643, at *11 (N.D. Cal.
June 16, 1994) (citing Neubronner v. Milken, 6 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 1993))
(emphasis added).

163. See, e.g., Evergreen Equity Trust v. Fed. Nat'l Mortgage Ass'n, 503 F. Supp. 2d
25, 68-71 (D.D.C. 2007) (citing Buban for the proposition that "to expand the reach of
Section 20A beyond same day trades would, in effect, permit plaintiffs to assert claims
where it is implausible that they traded with defendants"); In re AST Research, 887 F.
Supp. at 233-34.

164. In re MicroStrategy, 115 F. Supp. 2d at 663.
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successful plaintiff recovers any losses that may have accrued as a
result of the defendant's wrongful conduct. In the context of a
recovery premised on § 20A, this would amount to a plaintiffs out-of-
pocket losses from the inside trader's nondisclosure of material,
nonpublic information. Even in a contract action, where damages
may remedy restitution, reliance, or expectation interests, 165

damages are measured by the harm to the aggrieved party.166 By
contrast, a successful § 20A plaintiff is entitled only to the inside
trader's profits gained or losses avoid. 167 This limited amount is also
subject to diminution in the amount "that such person may be
required to disgorge" in an equitable action brought by the SEC. 166 In
enacting such a damages regime, Congress affirmed the Second
Circuit's admonition that covering a contemporaneous plaintiffs out-
of-pocket losses would create the "potential for imposition of
Draconian, exorbitant damages, out of all proportion to the wrong
committed, lining the pockets of all interim investors and their
counsel at the expense of innocent corporate stockholders." 169

Notwithstanding any empirical accuracy that may attend the
Second Circuit's admonition, it is beside the point. Section 20A
acknowledges the harm that insider trading inflicts upon individual
shareholders, and in an effort to alleviate that harm, it sanctions a
private right of action against the inside trader.170 By limiting
recovery to what is an irrelevant rubric (i.e., the inside trader's
profits gained or losses avoided) to avoid potentially "exorbitant
damages," however, § 20A prescribes a band-aid for what it declares
is a fracture. This remedy is particularly incongruous when one
considers that § 20A protects a class of plaintiffs that is actually

165. See generally JOHN P. DAWSON ET AL., CONTRACTS: CASES AND COMMENT 1-2
(9th ed. 2008).

166. Disgorgement in a contract action is termed restitution, and requires the
"defendant to disgorge the value he received from the plaintiff." See L. L. Fuller &
William R. Perdue, Jr., The Reliance Interest in Contract Damages (pt. 1), 46 YALE L.J.
52, 53-54 (1936) (emphasis added). Disgorgement in a § 20A action, by contrast, is
based entirely on the benefit accruing to the defendant by virtue of his wrongful
conduct, whether or not it was acquired from the plaintiff. See 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(b)(1)
(2006).

167. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-1(b) (2006).
168. Id. § 78t-l(b)(2). Recently, however, the SEC was empowered to compensate

victims of insider trading with disgorged funds. See Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 15
U.S.C. § 7246 (2006).

169. Elkind v. Liggett & Myers, Inc., 635 F.2d 156, 170 (2d Cir. 1980). The Court
identified a number of other reasons, such as the difficulty in valuing a share, insofar
as share prices are constantly changing and subject to a number of various
calculations. Id.

170. See H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 26-27 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N.
6043, 6063-64.
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identifiable, a rarity in most insider trading cases. 171 In fact, it was
this very reason that many cited as justification for reversing Moss 172

by providing contemporaneous traders an express cause of action. 173
After all, it is "the readily identifiable class of persons who traded
contemporaneously with the inside[] trader, but did not possess that
person's informational advantage" that is "best able to allege an
injury from [their] insider trading."174

Section 20A's damages regime also undercuts the ability of a
critical mass of plaintiffs from effectively supplementing the
administrative enforcement efforts of the SEC.175 That is, "Section
20A lessens the incentive for private parties to sue because the
amount of damages sustained by individuals is likely to be small
compared to the class of contemporaneous traders." 176 Commentators
have justified this incongruence on the ground that "the principal
objective of [§ 20A] is the avoidance of unjust enrichment on the part
of the insider rather than the prevention of actual harm or injury to
other marketplace traders."177 Nevertheless, it is unrealistic to expect
that civil plaintiffs will continue to "serve[] as an important
supplement to the [SEC's] enforcement of the federal securities
laws"178 when their potential recovery is so disproportionate to the
harm they have suffered.

VI. HEIGHTENED PLEADING REQUIREMENTS UNDER § 20A-THE
PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

Insider trading is quintessentially an incident of fraud and is

171. See Aldave, supra note 51, at 918. By contrast, non-contemporaneous inside
trading operates as follows:

In practice, it is impossible to recreate the hypothetical universe that would
have existed had there been no inside trade. The inside trade directly or
indirectly changes the inventory of a specialist or market-maker. There is
no way of knowing how this change alters the intermediary's price
quotations, and how these quotations affect the behavior of public investors.
Therefore, the victims of a stock market inside trade cannot be identified.

William K.S. Wang, Trading on Material Nonpublic Information on Impersonal Stock
Markets: Who is Harmed, and Who Can Sue Whom Under SEC Rule 10b-5, 54 S. CAL.
L. REV. 1217, 1312 (1981).

172. See discussion supra Part II.C.1.
173. See Aldave, supra note 51, at 918 n.138.
174. Harvey L. Pitt & Karen L. Shapiro, The Insider Trading Proscriptions Act of

1987: A Legislative Initiative for a Sorely Needed Clarification of the Law Against
Insider Trading, 39 ALA. L. REV. 415, 427 (1988).

175. See Aldave, supra note 51, at 913-18.
176. Henning, supra note 61, at 33.
177. DONALD C. LANGEVOORT, INSIDER TRADING REGULATION, ENFORCEMENT, AND

PREVENTION § 9:4 (2009).
178. H.R. REP. NO. 100-910, at 26 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043, 6063

(quoting SEC Chairman David S. Ruder).
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thereby subject to a heightened pleading standard under Rule 9(b).179
Consequently, the complaint must specify "the times, dates,
places ... and other details of the alleged fraudulent activity."180
This pleading requirement was further augmented by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA).1si The PLSRA
imposed a pleading standard that is generally considered to be
stricter than that required by Rule 9(b)182 in order to "eliminate
abusive securities litigation and particularly to put an end to the
practice of pleading 'fraud by hindsight.' 183

For the purposes of pleading a predicate violation under § 20A,
the PSLRA imposed two principal requirements. First, the complaint
must "specify each statement alleged to have been misleading, the
reason or reasons why the statement is misleading, and, if an
allegation regarding the statement or omission is made on
information and belief, the complaint shall state with particularity
all facts on which that belief is formed."184 Second, "the complaint
shall, with respect to each act or omission.., state with particularity
facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with
the required state of mind" (i.e., scienter or fraudulent intent). 185 In
light of the difficulties already attendant in proving material acts or
omissions and fraudulent intent in the pre-discovery stages of
litigation, Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA erect a formidable barrier for
prospective plaintiffs seeking recovery under § 20A by making it even
more difficult to establish the requisite predicate violation. 186 Much
of this difficulty is due to the fact that the fate of every § 20A claim is
inexorably linked with a plaintiffs ability to successfully establish a

179. Neubronner v. Milken, 6 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 1993).
180. Id. at 672.
181. Pub. L. No. 104-67, 109 Stat. 737 (1995).
182. City of Philadelphia v. Fleming Cos., 264 F.3d 1245, 1258 (10th Cir. 2001).
183. In re Vantive Corp. Sec. Litig., 283 F.3d 1079, 1084-85 (9th Cir. 2002); see also

DiLeo v. Ernst & Young, 901 F.2d 624, 627-28 (7th Cir. 1990). The PSLRA was also
intended to curb the "routine filing of lawsuits ... whenever there is a significant
change in an issuer's stock price," "abuse of the discovery process to impose costs so
burdensome that it is often economical for the victimized party to settle," and
"manipulation by class action lawyers of the clients whom they purportedly represent."
H.R. REP. No. 104-369, at 31 (1995) (Conf. Rep.), reprinted in 1995 U.S.C.C.A.N. 730,
730.
184. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(1) (2006).
185. Id. § 78u-4(b)(2) (emphasis added).
186. Compare TFM Inv. Group v. Bauer, No. 99-840, 1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15821

(E.D. Pa. Sept. 24, 1999) (granting motion to dismiss under PSLRA where defendant's
acquisition of majority of call options in a company's common stock four days prior to a
material public announcement is insufficient to establish scienter), with Stevens v.
O'Brien Envtl. Energy, Inc., No. 94-4577, 1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6660 (E.D. Pa. May
10, 1999) (denying motion to dismiss, prior to PSLRA, where circumstances of
defendant's sale of over one million shares was sufficient to infer scienter).
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violation of some other provision of the Exchange Act.i87 As a
consequence, with each successive judicial or legislation modification
of, for instance, § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, § 20A is directly impacted. 188

Section 20A's contemporaneity requirement is also subject to the
strictures of Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA.189 As the court stated in
Neubronner v. Milken, "contemporaneous trading is necessarily a
'circumstance constituting fraud' because an insider cannot be liable
to a private party under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 without having
traded contemporaneously."190 In requiring such an allegation to be
made with specificity prior to having an opportunity to obtain
discovery, however, "Congress's action in 1995 may undermine its
1988 legislation." 191

VII. THE NEED FOR CONGRESSIONAL ACTION

Section 20A was enacted in order to "provide greater deterrence,
detection and punishment of violations of insider trading."192 Its
statutory framework expanded upon the lessons of over forty years of
securities fraud jurisprudence, and sought to preclude difficult
questions with respect to statutes of limitation and privity
requirements. Finally, it empowered an identifiable group of
securities fraud victims with an express cause of action in an effort to
supplement the traditional enforcement mechanisms of the SEC.
Twenty years of intervening Supreme Court decisions, Congressional
enactments, fundamental changes in global markets, and § 20A
jurisprudence have shown, however, that the original effort was
incomplete. In light of the robust benefits of insider trading
regulation,193 clarifying legislation is required to provide a § 20A

187. See supra note 81 and accompanying text.
188. See, e.g., Teachers' Ret. Sys. v. Hunter, 477 F.3d 162 (4th Cir. 2007); In re Bio-

Tech. Gen. Corp. Sec. Litig., 380 F. Supp. 2d 574 (D.N.J. 2005); In re Cree, Inc. Sec.
Litig., 333 F. Supp. 2d 461 (M.D.N.C. 2004); In re AFC Enters., Inc. Sec. Litig., 348 F.
Supp. 2d 1363 (N.D. Ga. 2004); DeMarco v. Robertson Stephens Inc., 318 F. Supp. 2d
110 (S.D.N.Y. 2004); In re Enron Corp. Sec., Derivative & "ERISA Litig.," 258 F. Supp.
2d 576 (S.D. Tex. 2003).

189. Neubronner v. Milken, 6 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 1993) (holding that
contemporaneity was subject to Rule 9(b)); Johnson v. Aljian, 394 F. Supp. 2d 1184,
1203 (C.D. Cal. 2004) (acknowledging that contemporaneity was subject to the
PSLRA), affd, 490 F.3d 778 (9th Cir. 2007).

190. Neubronner, 6 F.3d at 670.
191. WILLIAM K.S. WANG & MARC I. STEINBERG, INSIDER TRADING § 6:2, at *6-18

(Prac. Law Inst. 2007), PLIREF-INSDTR § 6:2 (Westlaw).
192. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 7 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043, 6044.
193. See, e.g., Laura Nyantung Beny, Insider Trading Laws and Stock Markets

Around the World: An Empirical Contribution to the Theoretical Law and Economics
Debate, 32 J. CORP. L. 237, 240 (2007) ("[Ciountries with more stringent insider
trading laws have more dispersed equity ownership; more liquid stock markets; and
more informative stock prices, consistent with the formulated hypotheses."); Utpal
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cause of action with greater precision and reduced uncertainty for
potential litigants.

A. Statute of Limitation: Providing a Coherent Scheme

The history of securities fraud litigation is replete with the
difficulties of disparate statute of limitations periods.194 Beyond
encouraging forum-shopping and consuming substantial judicial
resources, such regimes permit stale claims and prevent legitimate
business ventures from moving forward. Aljian itself was an instance
where the defendant was exposed to liability under § 20A, despite the
fact that seemingly every aspect of the suit-the conduct, the
elements, and the liability-was identical to the § 10(b) and Rule
10b-5 claims that the court held were time-barred. 195

Sarbanes-Oxley has made considerable headway in remediating
such disparities, as it proscribes any "private right of action that
involves a claim of fraud, deceit, manipulation, or contrivance in
contravention of a regulatory requirement concerning the securities
laws" from being brought "2 years after the discovery of the facts
constituting the violation[,] or 5 years after such violation,"
whichever is earlier. 196 "Securities laws," however, is defined in the
statute as explicitly excluding the ITSFEA, and thereby § 20A. 197

While exclusion may preserve the legislative intent of the ITSFEA, it
also sanctions a result where a § 20A plaintiff, despite having ample
time to discover the facts constituting the securities fraud, may

Bhattacharya & Hazem Daouk, The World Price of Insider Trading, 57 J. FIN. 75
(2002) (finding that enforcement of insider trading laws results in significant
decreases in the cost of equity); Wang, supra note 171, at 1234-40 (discussing "The
Law of Conservation of Securities"); see also Frank B. Cross & Robert A. Prentice, The
Economic Value of Securities Regulation, 28 CARDOZo L. REV. 333, 365-80 (2006)
(surveying more broadly the beneficial effects of securities regulation). But cf. HENRY
G. MANNE, INSIDER TRADING AND THE STOCK MARKET 111-58 (1966) (arguing that
insider trading can serve as a more efficient mechanism to reward managerial
entrepreneurship and allow firms to offer lower direct compensation); Dennis W.
Carlton & Daniel R. Fischel, The Regulation of Insider Trading, 35 STAN. L. REV. 857,
866-72 (1983) (arguing that insider trading reduces uncertainty and thereby increases
the firm's value to investors, which lowers the cost of capital); Kristoffel R. Grechenig,
The Marginal Incentive of Insider Trading: An Economic Reinterpretation of the Case
Law, 37 U. MEM. L. REV. 75 (2006) (arguing that insider trading on "negative
information" can play an important role in wealth maximization).

194. See discussion supra Part III.A.
195. See discussion supra Part III.D.
196. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1658(b)(1)-(2) (2006) (emphasis added).
197. 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(47) (2006) (citations omitted) (defining "securities laws" as

"the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, the Trust Indenture Act
of 1939, the Investment Company Act of 1940, the Investment Advisers Act of 1940,
and the Securities Investor Protection Act of 1970.").
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obtain recovery even when their identical § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
claims would have been dismissed as time-barred. Therefore,
"securities laws" should be defined more expansively to encompass
the ITSFEA. Such an achievement further promotes the desirable
goal of achieving uniformity in statutes of limitation for securities
fraud actions instituted pursuant to § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

B. Contemporaneity: Limiting the Move Towards Actual Privity

Section 20A limits the express cause of action to only those
victims of insider trading that traded contemporaneously with the
inside trader. 198 The drafters of § 20A, however, failed to imbue the
requirement with meaningful guidelines.199 Coupled with increasing
efficiencies in global markets, the result has been a gradual judicial
narrowing of the temporal period in which a victim of insider trading
may be deemed "contemporaneous" and thereby able to bring suit. 200
In light of these circumstances, it is unlikely that the same-day rule
marks the end of the continual narrowing of the contemporaneity
requirement under § 20A. Consequently, § 20A should be amended to
provide a bright-line definition of contemporaneity that entails
trading within either one or two trading days of the inside trader.
This definition provides affirmative guidance to potential litigants
who may otherwise be subject to dismissal.201 The amendment also
reflects a similar approach adopted by the prohibition against short-
swing profits, wherein "beneficial owner[s] of more than 10 percent of
any class of any equity security" are deemed statutory insiders.202

C. Damages: Providing a Meaningful Remedy

Section 20A was enacted to affirm that recovery by
contemporaneous traders was consistent with the "remedial
purposes" of the securities laws.203 By limiting damages to "profits

198. See 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(a) (2006).
199. See H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 27 & n.22 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N.

at 6064 & n.22.
200. See discussion supra Part I.B.
201. Doubtless many bona fide victims of insider trading will be excluded pursuant

to such a provision. See Veronica M. Dougherty, A [Dis]semblance of Privity:
Criticizing the Contemporaneous Trader Requirement in Insider Trading, 24 DEL. J.
CORP. L. 83, 91 (1999) ("As it has evolved, the requirement has also disposed of many
suits at an early stage, either because a named plaintiff turned out to have traded
more than a few days after the defendant .... "). Nevertheless, the ease and
predictability of this bright-line rule, especially in the context of the gradual
narrowing of the contemporaneity requirement in case-by-case analyses, justifies such
exclusion.
202. 15 U.S.C. §§ 78p(a)(1), (b) (2006).
203. H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 26 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,

6063.
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gained or loss[es] avoided,"204 however, § 20A provides a remedy that
is wholly disproportionate to the harm that victims actually suffer.
Further, the lack of a meaningful remedy frustrates effective civil
enforcement of the securities laws. Such a damages regime is
particularly unacceptable when one considers that § 20A plaintiffs,
unlike litigants under other provisions of the securities laws, are
among the "best able to allege an injury resulting from insider
trading."205

Notably, actions instituted pursuant to § 20A proceed on
different theories of harm than those under § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.206

Providing a meaningful and coherent remedy to victims of insider
trading, however, does not require the "Draconian, exorbitant
damages, out of all proportion to the wrong committed"207 that would
be associated with the latter. Instead, § 20A plaintiffs should be
permitted to supplement the current disgorgement remedy with
statutory damages, or alternatively to elect statutory damages in lieu
of disgorgement. Such an approach is similar to that adopted by
federal copyright law,208 where infringement recoveries often entail
damages that are based more on conjecture than actual harm
suffered. By way of illustration, statutory damages may occupy three
distinct tiers-A, B, and C (in ascending order of potential
recovery).209 A successful § 20A plaintiff will be placed in the
appropriate tier based on their actual trading volume during the
period of contemporaneous trading. 210 That is, relatively high volume
traders may acquire recovery in the "C" tier, whereas relatively low
volume traders may only recover in the "A" tier. A statutory list of
aggravating and mitigating factors may also be incorporated to
permit the court to shift recovery within the appropriate statutory
tier.211 Implemented correctly, this amendment will provide victims
of insider trading a more meaningful remedy and one that will
encourage effective civil enforcement of the securities laws.

204. 15 U.S.C. § 78t-l(b)(1) (2006).
205. Pitt & Shapiro, supra note 174, at 427.
206. See H.R. REP. No. 100-910, at 28 (1988), reprinted in 1988 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6043,

6065 ("[W]here the plaintiff demonstrates that he was defrauded by the defendant's
insider trading and suffered actual damages proximately caused by the defendant's
behavior, a cap of profit gained or loss avoided by the defendant, which is applicable
for actions by contemporaneous traders, is not appropriate.").
207. Elkind v. Liggett & Myers, Inc., 635 F.2d 156, 170 (2d Cir. 1980).
208. See, e.g., H.R. REP. No. 94-1476, at 161-62 (1976).
209. Recovery in "A" may range from $10,000 to $100,000; in "B" from $150,000 to

$500,000; and in "C" from $1,000,000 to $5,000,000.
210. This requirement serves as a proxy for approximating the fraud on the market

that justifies § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 damages. See supra note 206.
211. For instance, the degree and extent of contemporaneity, trade volume, or

scienter.
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D. Pleading Requirements: Ensuring that the Express Cause of
Action Is Not Illusory

The PSLRA and Rule 9(b) require that § 20A plaintiffs plead the
element of contemporaneity with specificity.212 Without an adequate
opportunity for discovery, however, a plaintiff must plead
"information regarding [the insider's] trading activity [that] is
exclusively within [the insider's] control."213 Such requirements
inhibit bona fide victims of insider trading from obtaining legal
redress. An "undue prejudice" exception has been recognized in
limited circumstances, but in light of the uncertainty created by such
a requirement, the contemporaneity requirement in § 20A should be
explicitly exempted from the requirements of the PSLRA. Otherwise,
"Congress's action in 1995 may undermine its 1988 legislation."214

In sum, twenty years of intervening Supreme Court decisions,
Congressional enactments, fundamental changes in global markets,
and § 20A jurisprudence have demonstrated the inadequacy of the
current regime for policing insider trading through the private right
of action embodied in § 20A. Congressional action is therefore
required to bring the express right of action into the twenty-first
century. This action must reform § 20A's statute of limitations, which
conflicts with the purposes underlying that of § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5;
provide a bright-line definition for contemporaneity in light of
fundamental changes in global markets; enact a damages provision
that ensures meaningful civil remedies and promotes effective civil
enforcement of securities regime; and preclude strict pleading
requirements from making the opportunity for recovery illusory.

212. See discussion supra Part VI.
213. Neubronner v. Milken, 6 F.3d 666, 670 (9th Cir. 1993). See generally Hillary A.

Sale, Heightened Pleading and Discovery Stays: An Analysis of the Effect of the
PSLRA's Internal-Information Standard on '33 and '34 Act Claims, 76 WASH. U. L.Q.
537 (1998).

214. WANG & STEINBERG, supra note 191, § 6:2, at *6-18.
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